

Article

Comparisons of ball possession, match running performance, player prominence and team network properties according to match outcome and playing formation during the 2018 FIFA World Cup

Aquino, Rodrigo, Machado, João Cláudio, Clemente, Filipe Manuel, Praça, Gibson Moreira, Gonçalves, Luiz Guilherme C., Melli-Neto, Bruno, Ferrari, João Victor S., Vieira, Luiz H. Palucci, Puggina7, Enrico F and Carling, Christopher

Available at <http://clock.uclan.ac.uk/29985/>

Aquino, Rodrigo, Machado, João Cláudio, Clemente, Filipe Manuel, Praça, Gibson Moreira, Gonçalves, Luiz Guilherme C., Melli-Neto, Bruno, Ferrari, João Victor S., Vieira, Luiz H. Palucci, Puggina7, Enrico F et al (2019) Comparisons of ball possession, match running performance, player prominence and team network properties according to match outcome and playing formation during the 2018 FIFA World Cup. International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport, 19 (6). pp. 1026-1037. ISSN 2474-8668

It is advisable to refer to the publisher's version if you intend to cite from the work.

<http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/24748668.2019.1689753>

For more information about UCLan's research in this area go to <http://www.uclan.ac.uk/researchgroups/> and search for <name of research Group>.

For information about Research generally at UCLan please go to <http://www.uclan.ac.uk/research/>

All outputs in CLoK are protected by Intellectual Property Rights law, including Copyright law. Copyright, IPR and Moral Rights for the works on this site are retained by the individual authors and/or other copyright owners. Terms and conditions for use of this material are defined in the <http://clock.uclan.ac.uk/policies/>

Title: A case study of match performance during an international level futsal tournament – Implications for talent development in soccer

Key words: task constraints, match analysis, skill acquisition, soccer, talent.

Word Count:

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Abstract

Futsal has grown in popularity globally yet additional research is necessary to enhance understanding of the technical, tactical and physical demands of the game. Anecdotal and scientific evidence suggests that futsal can aid talent development for 11 a-side soccer owing to the potential transfer of skills and the game constraints. The aim of this study was to examine physical (internal and external loads) and technical performance characteristics in international futsal match-play and discuss potential returns for soccer talent development. Performance was investigated in players (n=16, 25.7±4.71 years) in a team during an international futsal tournament. Pre-tournament fitness testing determined maximum heart rate (MHR) via the Yo-Yo IR1 test (194.58±11.08 beats min⁻¹) which was then used to examine heart rate during match-play. External load (accelerations and decelerations) was also measured during match-play using an inertial movement unit. Post-tournament match-analysis of technical events was performed. Analysis reported a mean heart rate value during ‘court time’ of 164.77±22.30 beats min⁻¹, which as a percentage of participants’ MHR was 87.69%±4.44%, with mean peak MHR of 98.30±2.47%. Results showed 2.16±0.25 accelerating () and 2.78±0.13 decelerating () events per minute, a possible key characteristic of futsal. Match analysis of technical performance showed that 77.26% of ball receptions were completed with the sole of the foot. Assessment of two-footedness showed 80.11±16.65% of individual possessions used the dominant foot to receive and 84.13±10.74% to pass the ball thereby displaying strong foot dominance. Team statistics reported substantial numbers of passing, dribbling and set play events. These results have quantified certain characteristics of elite futsal match-play thereby enhancing understanding of the game. Accordingly, the potential learning returns deriving from environmental and task constraints of

Commented [CC1]: ? or just anecdotal?

Commented [CC2]: Either one decimal or two, be consistent

Commented [CC3]: Add definition values

Commented [CC4]: High amounts compared to soccer? If so add at end of sentence - a possible key characteristic of futsal when compared to values for soccer...

Commented [CC5]: Too vague, need numbers

futsal are discussed, with possible implications to skills transfer and development of soccer players.

Introduction

Futsal is a 5 a-side, indoor sport officially recognized by Fédération Internationale de Football (FIFA), and was originally created to provide indoor soccer to children (UEFA, 2017). FIFA estimate futsal is played in 170 countries, with large participation numbers estimated around 60 million (The FA, 2018). Similar to soccer, futsal has become a contemporary research area (Beato, Coratella, & Schena, 2016; Oppici, Panchuk, Serpiello, & Farrow, 2019). Researchers are also increasingly discussing the potential of futsal as a talent development tool for soccer (Travassos, Araujo, & Davids, 2017; Yiannaki, Carling, & Collins, 2018a). Yet despite current academic (Beato et al., 2016; Oppici, Panchuk, Serpiello, & Farrow, 2018a; Yiannaki, Carling, & Collins, 2018c) and anecdotal evidence of its potential (UEFA, 2015; UEFA, 2018) soccer talent development models devote varying training time to integrating futsal arguably due to a need for additional evidence-based research (Moore et al., 2018; Oppici et al., 2019).

Commented [CC6]: add with authors quantifying the physical and technical demands of the sport (include refs) would better lead into next sentence

In contrast, research on the potential contribution of other forms of SSG has received wide coverage in the scientific literature (Aguiar, Botelho, Lago, Maças, & Sampaio, 2012; Halouani, Chtourou, Gabbett, Chaouachi, & Chamari, 2014). The benefits of reduced format games generally are recognised to condense the number of skilful actions and decisions participants make (both with and without the ball), whilst constructing realistic match-like conditions in training and preparation for soccer competition (Clemente, Couceiro, Martins, & Mendes, 2012). The specific constraints of sports and for the purposes of this article, small-sided formats of soccer, directly affect skill acquisition (Davids, Button, & Bennet, 2008; Davids, Araújo, Vilar, Renshaw, & Pinder, 2013). Recent work has sought to enhance understanding by examining technical skills acquired through futsal participation (Oppici, Panchuk, Serpiello, & Farrow, 2017; Oppici et al.,

Commented [CC7]: to what?

Commented [CC8]: the specific constraints inherent to some sports?
Bit unclear

2018a) yet analyses of authentic match-play are relatively limited (Agras, Ferragut, & Abalades, 2016). Analyses to quantify pertinent game characteristics should take place in authentic futsal match conditions examining elite, futsal specific populations (Yiannaki, Carling, & Collins, 2018b; Yiannaki et al., 2018c). Authenticity can enhance methodological representative design (Dhami & Hertwig, 2004), which is vital in developing impactful outcomes for practitioners (Carling, Wright, Nelson, & Bradley, 2014). Match-analysis allows researchers to quantify observed behaviours aiding understanding and consequently enhancing performance (Carling, Williams, & Reilly, 2005). For example, quantification of ball reception types and bipedalism (two-footedness) during authentic futsal match-play would be pertinent, providing novel quantitative data to inform previous qualitative observations (Yiannaki et al., 2018c). Given this, match-analysis was used in this paper, with pertinent technical events examined based on previous research (Oppici et al., 2019; Travassos et al., 2017; Yiannaki et al., 2018c), and later discussed regarding potential implications to soccer development.

Commented [CC9]: Futsal?

Commented [CC10]: On what?

Commented [CC11]: In which paper?

Commented [CC12]: Its long, ive tried to chop it down
The message gets lost I find, need to be clearer
Always relate back to earlier point on using futsal as a tool for for talent dev

Commented [CC13]: Doesn't make sense?

Evidence examining physical performance in futsal is more established with a review in 2016 providing a base of information (Beato et al., 2016). Research has reported high-intermittent physical demands experienced by futsal players which are linked to environmental and task constraints with participants performing multiple sprints and changes of direction (Castagna, D'Ottavio, Vera, & Álvarez, 2009; Dogramaci, Watsford, & Murphy, 2011). However, when futsal is compared to soccer, a broad lack of scientific evidence that has examined physical demands remains evident (Beato et al., 2016; Beato, Coratella, Schena, & Hulton, 2017). Studies of SSG are again more common than futsal and have comprehensively examined the physical and physiological demands of play, thus further examination of futsal is warranted (Castellano, Casamichana, & Dellal, 2013; Halouani et al., 2014). Regarding futsal, research is necessary to

investigate and identify physical skills of futsal, supporting coaches and practitioners. For example, one study sought to include an examination of internal and external loads, however, the study included Italian 2nd division female players, and utilised an outdoor synthetic surface due to methodological constraints (Beato et al., 2017). The present study has sought to separate other forms of 5v5 or SSG, instead analysing match characteristics indoors, with UEFA approved surface/equipment/laws, thus including authentic futsal constraints, whilst also utilising international level male players. This data will be of interest to futsal practitioners in the preparation and recovery protocols for players. Meanwhile analysis could also be informative to practitioners in soccer considering potentially transferable physical skills to soccer, (Yiannaki et al., 2018a; Yiannaki et al., 2018c) whilst also accounting for the evolution of running load demands at elite levels in the latter, allowing comparisons (Barnes, Archer, Hogg, Bush, & Bradley, 2014; Bush, Barnes, Archer, Hogg, & Bradley, 2015). Considering these external loads, the execution of rapid acceleration and deceleration manoeuvres make up a substantial part of the high-intensity workload (Carling, 2013) and is a critical quality required in soccer (Little & Williams, 2005). Therefore, identifying alternative means to train and develop these motor skills is consequently of interest to practitioners, with the examination of external loads in this paper representing a novel methodology.

This case study analysed an international futsal team during a four-team international tournament, using internal and external match data to quantify physical performances during competition. Additional analyses sought to quantify technical behaviours including ball reception, passing and bipedalism observed during competitive futsal matches. It is hoped that in addition to increasing knowledge in coaches and physical conditioning practitioners of futsal team performance, data will also provide knowledge to help inform soccer player development processes.

Commented [CC14]: Lost and pointless say

Commented [CC15]: Necessary?

Commented [CC16]: This is the point of the article – got to sell what we are doing,

Methodology

Context and Participants

An international futsal tournament was chosen for this case study reflecting the competitive elite nature of participants. Four international teams competed in this tournament with performance data collected on players in a single team (N=16) aged 25.7 ± 4.71 years. Teams were ranked between the top 50-100 teams internationally, with fixtures played at a single venue consecutively over a three-day period. All fixtures were officiated in keeping with the rules for competition set by FIFA, and played on a 20 x 40 m, seamless sprung floor surface suitable for international level futsal. During official futsal matches, duration is actively controlled, with the chronometer only running when the ball is in play with two equal 20minute halves.

Materials and Procedures

Data Collection. Ethical approval was granted from the local university research ethics committee (Reference Number: BAHSS 372) and informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the commencement of the study. All participants were reassured that their data would remain confidential.

Experimental Design Pre-Tournament Physical Testing

Fitness testing data was collected during a training camp 1 month prior to the tournament. Participants had a mean body mass of 74.16 ± 9.76 kg and percentage body fat of 11.11 ± 5.78 %

(estimated using a four-site method (Jackson & Pollock, 1978)). Repeated high intensity running capacity was determined via the Yo-Yo Intermittent Recovery test (Level 1) (Bangsbo, Iaia, & Krustup, 2008) and mean performance was 1878 ± 438 m. Heart rate was concomitantly recorded using chest worn monitors (Polar, Finland) and the peak value attained by each participant was taken as their maximum heart rate (MHR). The average heart rate across the group was 194.58 ± 11.08 beats min^{-1} (beats per minute).

Experimental Design Match Analysis

During physical analysis the chronometer used for internal and external measures ran from the commencement to the completion of each half, allowing for data to be collected, with a mean total chronological game time of $1:20:52 \pm 4:50$ across the three matches, as opposed to the 40 minutes of active playing time used in futsal. To obtain data based on 'court time' all data was filtered to exclude any time players were on the bench as substitutes, time-outs, and the half time break for both internal (heart rate) and external load measures.

Heart rate was used to measure internal load responses to competition and was recorded using the Team Polar system (Polar, Finland). Peak heart rate was the highest value achieved during match-play. External load was measured using Optimeye S5 devices (Catapult Sports) which incorporate an accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer all sampling at 100 Hz. Collectively this technology is referred to as an inertial movement unit (IMU). During competition each player wore the same IMU harnessed securely between the scapulae. Proprietary software (Catapult Sprint, version 5.1) filtered the raw data using Kalman techniques and quantifies specific micro-movements referred to as Inertial Movements Analysis (IMA). IMA acceleration and deceleration

events were segregated into four categories defined by the manufacturer's software; Low (1.5-2.5 m·s²), Medium (2.5-3.5 m·s²), High (>3.5 m·s²), and Total (>1.5 m·s²). During indoor court-based training sessions, IMA counts demonstrated good reliability (CV 1.8-2.1%, SWD 2.5%) suggesting this variable is sensitive to real differences in performance (Luteberget, Holme, & Spencer, 2018). As a global measure of external load, Player Load (PL) was reported which is a modified vector magnitude expressed as the square root of the sum of instantaneous rate of acceleration in each vector (X, Y and Z axes) divided by 100. PL is also presented as PlayerLoad per minute (PL·min⁻¹). Both measures demonstrate good reliability during team sport activity (Barrett, Midgely, & Lovell, 2014; Luteberget et al., 2018). In addition, PlayerLoad (PL) and PlayerLoad per minute (PL·min⁻¹) were shown to be reliable indicators of global external load (CV 0.9%, SWD 0.8-1.1%).

To analyse technical skills during matches, a review of related literature in soccer (Liu, Gómez, Gonçalves, & Sampaio, 2016; Sarmento et al., 2014), and futsal (Agras et al., 2016; Sturgess, 2017) was completed in the selection of relevant variables, with research suggesting an absence of scientific evidence in futsal contexts (Agras et al., 2016). Following this review, two UEFA licensed international futsal managers were consulted in finalizing the variables, with operational definitions provided in the appendices. Data was generated from three matches using the SportsCode software package (v.11.2.15, Hudl, Lincoln, NE, United States).

Data Analysis

Data analyses were completed using SPSS (version 21, SPSS, Chicago, USA) with descriptive data presented as mean±SD. Effect sizes (ES) were calculated using Cohen's *d* to determine the

meaningfulness of any differences in mean values, corrected for bias using Hedges formula and presented with 90% confidence intervals (CI) (Batterham & Hopkins, 2006; Cohen, 1988). The ES magnitudes were classified as trivial (<0.2), small ($>0.2-0.6$), moderate ($>0.6-1.2$), and large (>1.2).

Results

Table 1 and figure 1 present the data collected on total chronological game time ($1:20:52 \pm 4:50$) and internal workload measures (heart rate) of performance. Internal measures show a mean HR of $164.77 \text{ beats min}^{-1} (\pm 22.30)$, which equates to a mean heart rate max percentage (MHR%) of $87.69\% \pm 4.44\%$. Mean peak MHR values of $98.30\% \pm 2.47\%$ can be seen across the tournament for a reference futsal team.

Table 2 presents the data collected on external measures of performance. Results suggest that players performed, on average, 2.16 ± 0.25 accelerations per minute, of which the most frequent was $1.5\text{-}2.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{s}^{-2}$ (1.32 ± 0.10 per minute), followed by $2.5\text{-}3.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{s}^{-2}$ (0.51 ± 0.09 per minute) and $> 3.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{s}^{-2}$ (0.33 ± 0.09 per minute). Analysis of decelerations showed that players performed on average 2.78 ± 0.13 per minute with most frequent $1.5\text{-}2.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{s}^{-2}$ (1.64 ± 0.13 per minute), followed by $2.5\text{-}3.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{s}^{-2}$ (0.72 ± 0.04 per minute) and $> 3.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{s}^{-2}$ (0.43 ± 0.13 per minute). Table 3 and figure 2 present the data collected utilizing match analysis. A difference in ball reception was observed with players utilizing the sole of the foot more (total= 1279 ± 20.08 , 77.26%) when compared with other parts of the foot such as the instep (total= 343 ± 5.02 , 22.74%). Effect sizes were calculated for frequency of reception types (sole vs other) with a large difference reported ($d=1.87$, CI: 1.21, 2.30), and the percentage difference also showing a large difference ($d=4.42$, CI=3.52, 5.22). Furthermore, the frequency of receptions was collated with 578 events using the left foot versus 1052 using the right foot showing a moderate difference ($d=0.71$, CI: 0.23, 1.18). When considering individual players foot dominance as a percentage of ball receptions, 80.11% occurred utilising the dominant foot compared to 19.89% using the non-dominant foot, with a large difference between groups ($d=3.62$, CI: 2.83, 4.32).

Table 4 and figure 3 present data analyzing passing during match-play. Means were calculated for foot dominance, with left footed players passing with their dominant foot on 76.56% of occasions whilst similarly right-footed players pass with their dominant foot 87.47%, with a combined total of 84.13% passes made using the dominant foot, compared to 15.87% with the weaker foot. Effect sizes for passing between groups (dominant vs non-dominant foot) showed a large difference ($d=6.36, 5.16, 7.41$) towards preference towards the use of players' dominant foot. Pass completion was also compared between dominant (89.69%) and non-dominant foot (84.28%) showing trivial differences ($d=0.40, CI, 0.07, 0.86$).

Discussion

This study aimed to provide a holistic analysis on characteristics of international standard futsal match-play in a reference team. Analysis also allows inferences to be made regarding futsal and its potential for informing existing theories on player development via transfer of skills between futsal and soccer.

Technical performance

Ball receptions

Futsal task constraints, and notably the interaction between the playing surface and the weighted ball (Peacock, Garofolini, Oppici, Serpiello, & Ball, 2017) is associated with specific ball reception skills (Travassos et al., 2017). To our knowledge, this is the first-time research has quantified ball reception types during authentic elite futsal match-play. The results suggest that a high proportion of ball receptions are completed utilising the sole of the foot (~77%), a possible adaptation compared to soccer due to unique futsal task constraints of both the surface and ball. This result partly supports previous research which assessed player scanning behaviours concluding that futsal participation develops attention orientation as a consequence of the interaction between the ball and the surface (Oppici et al., 2017). This research suggested that perceptual skills are developed through futsal, with participants' using scanning behaviours immediately prior to, and upon ball reception. Skill acquisition through futsal practice especially during ball reception events could therefore develop enhanced spatial orientation and perceptual-motor skills as a consequence of task constraints with positive consequences for skill acquisition.

Bipedalism

Previous research has suggested that the task constraints of futsal practice could promote technical proficiency (Travassos et al., 2017). Indeed, a survey of elite soccer coaches showed that they believed that futsal develops multifunctional players capable of performing a multitude of different technical actions (Yiannaki et al., 2018c) associated with bipedalism. Results here suggest that a high proportion of players used their dominant foot to receive (~80%) and pass the ball (~84%). These results suggest bipedalism was not evident here, which is similar to the limited, but comparable research in soccer (Carey et al., 2001). In Carey & co-workers' study (Carey et al., 2001), analysis of the soccer World Cup 1998 showed dominant foot 'touches' ranged from ~82-84%, outlining foot dominance. However, it is noteworthy that one of the present futsal participants showed anomalous data in both receptions (dominant foot=~34%, non-dominant foot=~66%) and passing (dominant foot=~56%, non-dominant foot=~44%) with a unique practice history a possible causal factor. Indeed, this particular participant has a significant amount of futsal specific practice in a South American country where futsal and soccer are often 'twin tracked' (Moore et al., 2018) potentially developing enhanced bipedalism. Furthermore, as an experienced futsal international, ~12 years of domain specific practice (substantially more than other players in the present reference team) had been accumulated which unquestionably enhanced these skills, alongside contextual variables (individuality, stature & position) potentially explaining this individual uniqueness and the lack of bipedalism observed in other players.

Team Statistics

One of the most remarkable elements of futsal pertains to the ability of players to perform dribbles (Corrêa et al., 2016) and this creativity is a skill often revered by practitioners and spectators (Memmert, Baker, & Bertsch, 2010). The present analysis showed a mean of ~27 successful dribbles and ~11 unsuccessful dribbles per team per game. In contrast, previous futsal research in Brazil (Corrêa et al., 2016) showed an average of 12 successful dribbles and ~7 unsuccessful dribbles per futsal game. The lower number of dribbles reported could be explained by the reduced pitch dimensions used in the Brazilian study. Research suggests an association between technical skills and success in soccer with superior dribbling in youth correlating with high achievement in adulthood (Huijgen, Elferink-Gemser, Post, & Visscher, 2010). As such, Futsal may facilitate the development of dribbling skills due to game constraints, notably the balls' interaction with the surface, which could be useful when considering long-term player development (Stafford, 2005).

Passing is also a factor which characterizes team sports such as futsal (Mohammed, Shafizadeh, & Platt, 2014) and is considered a complex perceptual-motor skill. Futsal players must combine reception and passing skills during dynamic match-play with the pitch markings/boundaries impacting upon playing behaviours (Corrêa, Vilar, Davids, & Renshaw, 2014). The present data reported a successful pass percentage of ~90% using the dominant foot, and ~84% using the non-dominant foot, which is comparable to previous research in futsal showing ~90% successful passes albeit without distinguishing foot dominance (Mohammed et al., 2014). Comparatively elite soccer data shows a lower figure of ~76% success rate in passing actions (Dellal et al., 2011) which may support the perceptions of coaches in recent survey-based research who suggested that passing accuracy is a key skill that can be enhanced through futsal practice due to game constraints (Yiannaki et al., 2018c). This result is of potential interest to researchers interested in skill acquisition in futsal and the possible transfer of such actions to soccer. Indeed, preliminary data

suggest positive transfer regarding passing actions (Oppici et al., 2018a; Oppici, Panchuk, Serpiello, & Farrow, 2018b). The implications of this could lead to a greater inclusion of futsal, and its constraints, in soccer talent development programs. Meanwhile, the contemporary trends in soccer may align closer to futsal match behaviours with a 7-year evolution in the English Premier league (EPL) showing increases in technical actions such as the number of passes (~40%), pass success rates (~84%), and more passes played over shorter and medium distances (Bush et al., 2015).

In futsal, pitch markings are used similarly to other indoor sports, and also replicating the boundaries used in soccer, with restarts in play when the ball goes 'off-court'. The game constraint of boundaries appears to have an impact on passing types and success rates, potentially supporting previous work showing that coaches perceive that this constraint, along with smaller pitch sizes, can aid development of passing skills and accuracy (Yiannaki et al., 2018c). However, the present paper also quantified, through match analysis, frequencies of play restarts (corners, kick-ins), showing mean values (per team/game) for kick-ins (~43), corners (~10), and set pieces which resulted in the successful creation of a shot (~8). A mean of ~6 freekicks per futsal game was recorded compared to a mean of 14 during elite soccer games (Carling et al., 2005), with differences possibly caused by the laws of futsal with punishments for teams accumulating fouls. Restarts in play are therefore condensed in elite futsal compared to soccer competition, with teams in the latter recording an average of 14 free kicks, 17 throw-ins and 5 corner kicks (Carling et al., 2005). Therefore, futsal may provide participants with opportunities to practice and develop certain set piece skills (e.g., ball delivery, movement off the ball) or choreographed routines enhancing this element of talent development.

Physical performance

Research shows that futsal is a high intensity intermittent sport, requiring multiple sprints (Beato et al., 2017). These physical demands are directly related to the environmental and task constraints of futsal and are explored in this section.

Heart Rate

The present results show a mean heart rate during '*court time*' (across the whole tournament) of ~165 beats min⁻¹ with similar heart rate data reported in previous futsal research: mean=174 beats min⁻¹ (Barbero-Alvarez, Soto, Barbero-Alvarez, & Granda-Vera, 2008). When considering our values as a percentage of their maximum heart rate (MHR) players showed a mean of ~88%. Comparable research reports similar mean MHR values of ~90%, also reported based on '*court time*' (Barbero-Alvarez et al., 2008). Previous work analysing physical activity and heart rates (Ekelund et al., 2001) suggests values >80% MHR should be considered '*very vigorous*', a possible reflection of the high intensity nature of futsal when '*on-court*' requiring high fitness levels (Beato et al., 2017; Castagna et al., 2009). Furthermore, results show a mean peak MHR of ~98% during '*court time*' reflecting the intense nature of futsal. When compared to other SSG, 5v5 soccer produced mean MHR % ranges of 82-87% suggesting futsal may be towards the upper limit of ranges found in SSG (Hill-Haas, Rowsell, Dawson, & Coutts, 2009; Little & Williams, 2006; Rampinini et al., 2007), although variable pitch sizes/surfaces are utilised in SSG based study design rendering direct comparisons a challenge (Aguiar et al., 2012). Comparable data in soccer has estimated mean MHR values at ~85% [76, 77] and peak MHR values ~98% (Bangsbo, Mohr, & Krstrup, 2006), signifying comparable internal loads to soccer, reflecting the high intensity,

intermittent nature of both sports (Beato et al., 2016; Dogramaci et al., 2011). Thus, with equivalent profiles to soccer, futsal represents an alternative and effective method to train soccer players physically, which is relevant for practitioners considering futsal as a developmental tool.

IMU Analysis

To our knowledge, this paper is the first to quantify the external load demands of international competitive futsal using IMU. While sprinting is an important element of soccer (Barnes et al., 2014), in futsal the capacity to accelerate is potentially of greater significance given the limited playing area dimensions (Beato et al., 2017). During the present tournament, players performed, on average, 2.2 accelerations per minute, of which the most frequent was 1.5-2.5 m·s⁻² (1.3 per minute), followed by 2.5-3.5 m·s⁻² (0.5 per minute) and >3.5 m·s⁻² (0.3 per minute). These findings are similar to observations in SSG where the number of moderate accelerations (2-3 m·s⁻²) was more common on smaller pitches (5v5>7v7>10v10) (Gaudino, Alberti, & Iaia, 2014). This data is also higher than reported in professional 11 a-side soccer players (Dalen et al., 2019; Vigh-Larsen, Dalgas, & Andersen, 2018). However, caution is necessary when comparing due to differences in methodologies. In the absence of similar data from futsal, it is difficult to interpret the data from this study, but results nevertheless highlight that the capacity to accelerate is important during match-play. Decelerations were also analysed with players performing on average 2.8 actions per minute with most frequent 1.5-2.5 m·s⁻² (1.6 per minute), followed by 2.5-3.5 m·s⁻² (0.7 per minute) and >3.5 m·s⁻² (0.4 per minute). Thus, players decelerated more frequently than they accelerated; 2.8 vs. 2.2 events per minute, respectively, and is contrary to soccer-based research which reported a higher number of accelerations than decelerations (Vigh-Larsen et al., 2018). It is unclear why this disparity exists, but we can speculate that the limited

space and requirement to manipulate interpersonal distances may require these micromovements. Thus, given the potential importance of decelerations to match-play, further research is warranted. Overall, from a soccer player athletic development perspective, futsal participation would it seems able to provide a means to train acceleration and deceleration ability.

Limitations and Recommendations

It is important to mention that despite playing for a national futsal team, many of the present players had both futsal and soccer practice histories, thereby futsal specific characteristics could to a certain extent be limited. A previous paper analysed 82 participants from soccer and futsal, concluding that most futsal subjects used were '*failed footballers*' neglecting to show domain-specific characteristics (Jovanovic, Sporis, & Milanovic, 2011). This means behaviours observed may not display key differences between futsal and soccer and crucially implies that future work should analyse only futsal specific populations (Jovanovic et al., 2011), for example full-time professional futsal players. Meanwhile research comparing the rankings of countries in both sports concluded a positive correlation exists between success in futsal and soccer, suggesting a twin-tracked philosophy in those countries (Moore et al., 2018), presenting a challenge to researchers seeking to examine domain-specific sample groups. A further limitation is the standard of participating teams, although international, as research has shown that higher ranking teams play differently both collectively and individually (Bueno et al., 2018; Mohammed et al., 2014), which could be a limiting factor to the generalisability of behaviors observed in this piece. Also, despite recognising the benefits of case study type reports (Carling, 2017; Flyvbjerg, 2006), future papers could seek to compare additional and larger populations, over more matches, and a longer period of time. Local positioning technology now exists that should be included in future studies allowing

the collection of more work load comprehensive data indoors, facilitating direct comparisons to outdoor sports. Finally, further research should seek to examine further the transferal of specific skills to soccer, with this paper identifying common behaviors in futsal play. This research could support existing evidence (Oppici et al., 2018a) and inform contemporary debates in this regard (Travassos et al., 2017; Yiannaki et al., 2018a; Yiannaki et al., 2018c).

References

1. UEFA. UEFA Futsal Coaching Manual. Nyon: UEFA; 2017 Available from: https://www.uefa.com/MultimediaFiles/Download/uefaorg/CoachingCoachedu/02/50/17/35/2501735_DOWNLOAD.pdf
2. Travassos B, Araujo D, Davids K. Is futsal a donor sport for football? exploiting complementarity for early diversification in talent development. *Sci Med Football*. 2017;2(1):66-70.
3. Yiannaki C, Carling C, Collins D. Could futsal hold the key to developing the next generation of youth soccer players? *Sci Med Football*. 2018;2(1):71-74.
4. Horrocks DE, McKenna J, Whitehead A, Taylor PJ, Morley AM. Qualitative perspectives on how manchester united football club developed and sustained serial winning. *Int J Sports Sci Coach*. 2016;11(4):467-77.
5. Gagné F. The DMGT: Changes within, beneath, and beyond. *Talent Development & Excellence*. 2013;5(1):5-19.
6. Oppici L, Panchuk D, Serpiello F, Rubens, Farrow D. Futsal task constraints promote transfer of passing skill to soccer task constraints. *Eur J Sport Sci*. 2018;18(7):947-954
7. Yiannaki C, Carling C, Collins D. Futsal as a potential talent development modality for soccer – a quantitative assessment of high-level soccer coach and player perceptions. *Sci Med Football*. 2018:1-10.
8. UEFA. UEFA Futsal - Master the Ball. Available from: https://www.uefa.com/MultimediaFiles/Download/competitions/General/02/16/14/04/2161404_DOWNLOAD.pdf
9. UEFA. Tournament Review - UEFA Futsal EURO 2018 Slovenia. UEFA; 2018 Available from: https://www.uefa.com/MultimediaFiles/Download/Publications/uefaorg/General/02/56/34/94/2563494_DOWNLOAD.pdf?iv=true
10. Grossmann B, Lames M. From talent to professional football -- youthism in german football. *Int J Sports Sci Coa*. 2015;10(6):1103-13.
11. The Premier League. Elite player performance plan. London: The Premier League. 2011
12. Aguiar M, Botelho G, Lago C, Maças V, Sampaio J. A review on the effects of soccer small-sided games. *J Hum Kinet*. 2012; 33:103-13.

13. Castellano J, Puente A, Echeazarra I, Usabiaga O, Casamichana D. Number of players and relative pitch area per player: Comparing their influence on heart rate and physical demands in under-12 and under-13 football players. *PLoS ONE*. 2016;11(1):1-13.
14. Halouani J, Chtourou H, Gabbett T, Chaouachi A, Chamari K. Small-sided games in team sports training: A brief review. *J Strength Cond Res*. 2014;28(12):3594-618.
15. Clemente F, Couceiro MS, Martins FML, Mendes R. The usefulness of small-sided games on soccer training. *J Phys Ed Sport*. 2012;12(1):93-102.
16. Davids K, Araújo D, Vilar L, Renshaw I, Pinder R. An ecological dynamics approach to skill acquisition: Implications for development of talent in sport. *Talent Development & Excellence*. 2013;5(1):21-34.
17. Davids, K, Button, C, Bennet, S. *Dynamics of Skill Acquisition - A Constraints-Led Approach*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2008.
18. Oppici L, Panchuk D, Serpiello F, R., Farrow D. Long-term practice with domain-specific task constraints influences perceptual skills. *Front Psychol*. 2017;8(1387)
19. Yiannaki C, Carling C, Collins D. Commentary: Long-term practice with domain-specific task constraints influences perceptual skills. *Front Psychol*. 2018;9(1214)
20. Phillips E, Davids K, Renshaw I, Portus M. Expert performance in sport and the dynamics of talent development. *Sports Med*. 2010;40(4):271-83.
21. Abbott A, Collins D. Eliminating the dichotomy between theory and practice in talent identification and development: Considering the role of psychology. *J Sports Sci*. 2004;22(5):395-408.
22. Buchheit M. Houston, we still have a problem. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. 2017;12(8):1111-4.
23. Carling C, Wright C, Nelson LJ, Bradley PS. Comment on 'Performance analysis in football: A critical review and implications for future research'. *J Sports Sci*. 2014;32(1):2-7.
24. Carling, C, Williams, AM, Reilly, T. *Handbook of soccer match analysis: a systematic approach to improving performance*. London: Routledge, 2005.
25. Agras H, Ferragut C, Abraldes JA. Match analysis in futsal: A systematic review. *Int J Sports Perf Anal Spor*. 2016;16(2):652.
26. Oppici L, Panchuk D, Serpiello FR, Farrow D. The influence of a modified ball on transfer of passing skill in soccer. *Psychol Sport Exerc*. 2018;39:63-71.

27. Renshaw I, Chow JY, Davids K, Hammond J. A constraints-led perspective to understanding skill acquisition and game play: A basis for integration of motor learning theory and physical education praxis? *Phys Educ Sport Pedagog.* 2010;15(2):117-37.
28. Uehara L, Button C, Falcous M, Davids K. Contextualised skill acquisition research: A new framework to study the development of sport expertise. *Phys Educ Sport Pedagog.* 2016;21(2):153-68.
29. Beato M, Coratella G, Schena F, Hulton AT. Evaluation of the external & internal workload in female futsal players. *Biol Sport.* 2017;34(3):227-31.
30. Castagna C, D'Ottavio S, Vera JG, Álvarez JCB. Match demands of professional futsal: A case study. *J Sci Med Sport.* 2009;12(4):490-4.
31. Dogramaci SN, Watsford ML, Murphy AJ. Time-motion analysis of international and national level futsal. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2011;25(3):646-51.
32. Taylor J, Wright A, Dischiavi S, Townsend A, M., Marmon A. Activity demands during multi-directional team sports: A systematic review. *Sports Med.* 2017;47(12):2533-51.
33. Naser N, Ali A, Macadam P. Physical and physiological demands of futsal. *J Exerc Sci Fit.* 2017;15(2):76-80.
34. Castellano J, Casamichana D, Dellal A. Influence of game format and number of players on heart rate responses and physical demands in small-sided soccer games. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2013;27(5):1295-303.
35. Hill-Haas S, Rowsell GJ, Dawson BT, Coutts AJ. Acute physiological responses and time-motion characteristics of two small-sided training regimes in youth soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2009;23(1):111-5.
36. Carling C. Interpreting physical performance in professional soccer match-play: Should we be more pragmatic in our approach? *Sports Med.* 2013;43(8):655-63.
37. Barnes C, Archer DT, Hogg B, Bush M, Bradley PS. The evolution of physical and technical performance parameters in the english premier league. *Int J Sports Med.* 2014;35(13):1095-100.
38. Bush M, Barnes C, Archer DT, Hogg B, Bradley PS. Evolution of match performance parameters for various playing positions in the english premier league. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2015; 39:1-11.
39. Buchheit M, Al Haddad H, Simpson BM, Palazzi D, Bourdon PC, Di Salvo V, Mendez-Villanueva A. Monitoring accelerations with GPS in football: Time to slow down? *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* 2014;9(3):442-5.

40. Buchheit M, Poon TK, Modonutti M, Gregson W, Di Salvo V, Allen A. Integrating different tracking systems in football: Multiple camera semi-automatic system, local position measurement and GPS technologies. *J Sports Sci.* 2014;32(20):1844-57.
41. Little T, Williams AG. Specificity of acceleration, maximum speed, and agility in professional soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2005;19(1):76-8.
42. Varley MC, Aughey RJ. Acceleration profiles in elite Australian soccer. *Int J Sports Med.* 2013;34(1):34-9.
43. Swann C, Moran A, Piggott D. Defining elite athletes: Issues in the study of expert performance in sport psychology. *Psychol Sport & Exerc.* 2015;16:3-14.
44. Jackson AS, Pollock ML. Generalized equations for predicting body density of men. *Br J Nutr.* 1978;40(3):497-504.
45. Bangsbo J, Iaia M, F., Krstrup P. The yo-yo intermittent recovery test: A useful tool for evaluation of physical performance in intermittent sports. *Sports Med.* 2008;38(1):37-51.
46. Catapult. White Paper: An Introduction to Internal Movement Analysis (IMA). Available from: https://www.catapultsports.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/IMA_WP_vF.pdf?x25218
47. Luteberget L, S., Holme B.R., Spencer M. Reliability of wearable inertial measurement units to measure physical activity in team handball. *Int J Sports Physiol Perf.* 2018;4(13):467-73.
48. Boyd LJ, Ball K, Aughey RJ. The reliability of MinimaxX accelerometers for measuring physical activity in Australian football. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* 2011;6(3):311-21.
49. Barrett S, Midgely A, Lovell R. Player load: Reliability convergent validity, and influence of unit position during treadmill running. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* 2014;9(6):945-52.
50. Castellano J, Casamichana D, Lago C. The use of match statistics that discriminate between successful and unsuccessful soccer teams. *J Hum Kinet.* 2012;31(1):139-47.
51. Lago-Peñas C, Lago-Ballesteros J, Dellal A, Gómez M. Game-related statistics that discriminate winning, drawing and losing teams from the Spanish soccer league. *J Sports Sci & Med.* 2010;9(2):288-93.
52. Liu H, Gómez M, Gonçalves B, Sampaio J. Technical performance and match-to-match variation in elite football teams. *J Sports Sci.* 2016;34(6):509-18.
53. Sarmiento H, Marcelino R, Anguera MT, Campaniço J, Matos N, Leitão JC. Match analysis in football: A systematic review. *J Sports Sci.* 2014;32(20):1831-43.
54. Sarmiento H, Bradley P, Anguera MT, Polido T, Resende R, Campaniço J. Quantifying the offensive sequences that result in goals in elite futsal matches. *J Sports Sci.* 2015;34(7):621-9.

55. Sturgess, P. *Futsal: Training, Technique and Tactics*. London, England: Bloomsbury; 2017.
56. Milligan I, Borrie A, Horn R, Williams M. Technical analysis of futebol de salao and mini-football. *Insight: Football Assoc Coaches J*. 2002;5:1-11.
57. Batterham A, M., Hopkins WG. Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. 2006;1(1):50-57.
58. Cohen, J. *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. (2nd edn.) ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum; 1988.
59. Peacock J, Garofolini A., Oppici L, Serpiello F, Ball K. Differences in kicking dynamics of futsal and soccer ball. In: 35th Conference of the International Society of Biomechanics in Sports ; 2017; Cologne, Germany. 2017. p. 596-9.
60. Carey DP, Smith G, Smith DT, Shepherd JW, Skriver J, Ord L, Rutland A. Footedness in world soccer: An analysis of france '98. *J Sports Sci*. 2001;19(11):855-64.
61. Moore R, Ramchandani G, Bullough S, Goldsmith S, Edmondson L, Berdejo-del-Fresno D. The world at their feet: A combined historical ranking of nations competing in football and futsal. *Amer J Sports Sci Med*. 2018;6(2):49-59.
62. Corrêa UC, de Pinho ST, da Silva SL, Clavijo FAR, Souza TdO, Tani G. Revealing the decision-making of dribbling in the sport of futsal. *J Sports Sci*. 2016;34(24):2321-8.
63. Memmert D, Baker J, Bertsch C. Play and practice in the development of sport-specific creativity in team ball sports. *High Abil Stud*. 2010;21(1):3-18.
64. Huijgen BCH, Elferink-Gemser M, Post W, Visscher C. Development of dribbling in talented youth soccer players aged 12-19 years: A longitudinal study. *J Sports Sci*. 2010;28(7):689-98.
65. Stafford, I. *Coaching for long-term athlete development: to improve participation and performance in sport*. Leeds: Coachwise, 2005.
66. Mohammed A, Shafizadeh M, Platt G, K. Effects of the level of expertise on the physical and technical demands in futsal. *Int J Perf Anal Sport*. 2014;14(2):473-81.
67. Travassos B, Araújo D, Davids K, Esteves PT, Fernandes O. Improving passing actions in team sports by developing interpersonal interactions between players. *Int J Sports Sci Coach*. 2012;7(4):677-88.
68. Vilar L, Araújo D, Davids K, Correia V, Esteves PT. Spatial-temporal constraints on decision-making during shooting performance in the team sport of futsal. *J Sports Sci*. 2013;31(8):840-6.

69. Corrêa UC, Vilar L, Davids K, Renshaw I. Informational constraints on the emergence of passing direction in the team sport of futsal. *Eur J Sports Sci.* 2014;14(2):169-76.
70. Vilar L, Araújo D, Davids K, Travassos B, Duarte R, Parreira J. Interpersonal coordination tendencies supporting the creation/prevention of goal scoring opportunities in futsal. *Eur J Sports Sci.* 2014;14(1):28-35.
71. Dellal A, Chamari K, Wong DP, Ahmaidi S, Keller D, Barros R, Bisciotti GN, Carling C. Comparison of physical and technical performance in european soccer match-play: FA premier league and la liga. *Eur J Sports Sci.* 2011;11(1):51-9.
72. Barbero-Alvarez J, Soto VM, Barbero-Alvarez V, Granda-Vera J. Match analysis and heart rate of futsal players during competition. *J Sports Sci.* 2008;26(1):63-73.
73. Ekelund U, Hurtig-Wennlöv A, Nilsson A, Sjöström M, Poortvliet E, Yngve A. Heart rate as an indicator of the intensity of physical activity in human adolescents. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2001;85(3-4):244-9.
74. Little T, Williams AG. Suitability of soccer training drills for endurance training. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2006;20(2):316-9.
75. Rampinini E, Impellizzeri F, Castagna C, Abt G, Chamari K, Sassi A, Marcora S. Factors influencing physiological responses to small-sided soccer games. *J Sports Sci.* 2007;25(6):659-66.
76. McMillan K, Helgerud J, Macdonald R, Hoff J. Physiological adaptations to soccer specific endurance training in professional youth soccer players. *Br J Sports Med.* 2005;39(5):273-7.
77. Ali A, Farrally M. Recording soccer players' heart rate during matches. *J Sports Sci.* 1991; 9:183-189.
78. Bangsbo J, Mohr M, Krstrup P. Physical and metabolic demands of training and match-play in the elite football player. *J Sports Sci.* 2006;24(7):665-74.
79. Travassos B, Araújo D, Vilar L, McGarry T. Interpersonal coordination and ball dynamics in futsal (indoor football). *Hum Mov Sci.* 2011;30(6):1245-59.
80. Gaudino P, Alberti G, Iaia FM. Estimated metabolic and mechanical demands during different small-sided games in elite soccer players. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2014;36:123-33.
81. Dalen T, Ingebrigtsen J, Ettema G, Hjelde HG, Wisloff U. Player load, acceleration, and deceleration during forty-five competitive matches of elite soccer. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2016;30(2):351-9.
82. Vigh-Larsen J, Dalgas U, Andersen TB. Position-specific acceleration and deceleration profiles in elite youth and senior soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2018;32(4):1114-22.

83. Dalen T, Sandmael S, Stevens T, Hjelde G, H., Kjosnes T, Wisloff U. Differences in acceleration and high-intensity activities between small-sided games and peak periods of official matches in elite soccer players. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2019;00(00):1-7.
84. Jovanovic M, Sporis G, Milanovic Z. Differences in situational and morphological parameters between male soccer and futsal - A comparative study. *Int J Perf Anal Sport*. 2011;11(2):227-38.
85. Bueno MJd, Caetano F, Giuliano, Yonezawa M, Kaori, Grella A, Sanatana, Cunha S, Augusto, Moura F, Arrunda. How do futsal players of different categories play during official matches? A tactical approach to players' organization on the court from positional data. *PLoS ONE*. 2018;13(6):1-13.
86. Nassis G, P. Leadership in science and medicine: Can you see the gap? *Sci Med Football*. 2017;1(3):195-6.
87. Carling C. Scientific research in association football - editors and reviewers get off my case (study). *Sport Perf Scientific Reports*. 2017;1(5)
88. Flyvbjerg B. Five misunderstandings about case-study research. *Qual Inq*. 2006;12(2):219-45.

